

Healthcare Improvement Scotland

Healthcare Staffing:

Operational Framework



Table of Contents

1.0	Introduction3
2.0	Background4
	Figure 1 HIS Organisational Approach5
3.0	HIS: monitoring compliance with staffing duties (12IP)6
	Figure 2 NHS Duties in relation to Staffing6
	Figure 3 Examples of Intelligence7
4.0	HIS: monitoring and review of common staffing method (12IQ)10
	Figure 4 Duty to follow CSM: Types of Health Care10
	Figure 5 The Common Staffing Method (2024)11
5.0	HIS: monitoring and development of staffing tools (12IR)14
6.0	HIS: duty to consider multi-disciplinary tools (12IS)18
7.0	HIS: duty on health boards to assist staffing functions (12IT)19
8.0	HIS: power to require information (12IU)21
	Figure 6 Factors for the HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG to consider:22
9.0	Accountability and governance24
	Figure 7 HIS Healthcare Staffing Governance Structure24
10.0	Version control25

1.0 Introduction

- 1.1 The purpose of this Healthcare Improvement Scotland's (HIS), Healthcare Staffing Operational Framework is to underpin the Healthcare Improvement Scotland and Scottish Government (SG) (2024) Operational Framework. This provides greater clarity in terms of how HIS will meet its legislative requirements of the <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act</u> <u>2019</u> (HCSA).
- 1.2 This Framework will clearly define key roles and responsibilities of HIS's Healthcare Staffing Programme (HSP) and the wider organisation in meeting HIS's legislative duties.
- 1.3 The Framework will clearly define when and how HIS will consult with wider stakeholders to meet its legislative duties.
- 1.4 The Framework will also set out when and how HIS will make recommendations and report to Scottish Ministers and where appropriate publish the findings of any review.
- 1.5 The Framework will provide the necessary governance. The Framework will be reviewed following the first year of commencement, to capture learning. Thereafter, this document should be reviewed and updated as necessary, at least every 4 years. Any proposals to amend this document will be taken forward by the HIS HSP team, by applying due diligence and engagement with stakeholders across HIS and SG taking account of any new regulation affecting the HCSA and learning from HIS undertaking its legislative role and functions.
- 1.6 The review of this document and discharge of HIS' role and function will be monitored and reported through HIS' Quality and Performance Committee (QPC) and from there to HIS' Board.

2.0 Background

- 2.1 The <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019</u>, aims to ensure the provision of safe and high-quality services, and the best healthcare or (as the case may be) care outcomes for service users.
- 2.2 The Act stipulates several functions in relation to staffing in which HIS will be required to undertake as follows:

12IP	HIS: monitoring compliance with staffing duties	
12IQ	HIS: monitoring and review of Common Staffing Method	
12IR	HIS: monitoring and development of staffing tools	
12IS	HIS: duty to consider multi-disciplinary staffing tools	
12IT	HIS: duty on Health Boards to assist staffing functions	
12IU	HIS: power to require information	
12IV	HIS: ministerial guidance on staffing functions	

- 2.3 This legislation runs in parallel and compliments several legislative and statutory requirements of HIS, including:
 - to further improve the quality of healthcare
 - to provide information to the public about the availability and quality of NHS services
 - to support and monitor public involvement
 - to monitor the quality of healthcare provided or secured by the health service
 - to evaluate and provide advice to the health service on the clinical and cost effectiveness of new medicines and new and existing health technologies
- 2.4 HIS's legislative requirements, outlined within the HCSA, will be undertaken in line with HIS's operational approach (see Figure 1), as follows:
 - Independent assurance of the quality of care supported through HIS's role and function 'Monitoring Compliance with Staffing Duties'. This includes the guiding principles for healthcare staffing, which is to ensure the provision of safe and high-quality services and the best health care, or (as the case may be) care outcomes for service users.
 - National Improvement and redesign support for Healthcare Services which will be supported by HSP through the provision of healthcare staffing expertise and improvement, sharing of learning and best practice through HSP's National Learning System.
 - The development and maintenance of staffing level tools to inform appropriate staffing for contemporary multi-disciplinary models of service delivery.
 - Independent assessment of evidence to underpin high-quality care through building a robust evidence base to inform healthcare staffing, including the development of robust evidence-based approaches to developing staffing level tools and workforce planning methodologies.

Figure 1 HIS Organisational Approach



In line with HIS organisational approach and the guiding principles of the HCSA, HIS will undertake its legislative duties whilst keeping service users and staff at the centre of its work.

This aims to ensure that healthcare staffing is arranged whilst:

- (i) improving standards and outcomes for service users
- (ii) taking account of the particular needs, abilities, characteristics, and circumstances of different service users
- (iii) respecting the dignity and rights of service users
- (iv) taking account of the views of staff and service users
- (v) ensuring the wellbeing of staff
- (vi) being open with staff and service users about decisions on staffing
- (vii) allocating staff efficiently and effectively, and
- (viii) promoting multi-disciplinary services as appropriate

Consecutively, supporting HIS to meet its overall purpose 'to drive the highest quality care for everyone in Scotland'.

3.0 HIS: monitoring compliance with staffing duties (12IP)

3.1 HIS must monitor the discharge, by every Health Board, relevant Special Health Boards and the Agency, of their duties as cited within the legislation as follows:

Section	Purpose		
(a) section 12IA	Duty to ensure appropriate staffing, including related duties under		
	Part 2, to have regard to guiding principles etc. in healthcare staffing		
	and planning		
(b) section 12IC	Duty to have real-time staffing assessment in place		
(c) section 12ID,	Duty to have risk escalation process in place		
(d) section 12IE	Duty to have arrangements to address severe and recurrent risks		
(e) section 12IF Duty to seek clinical advice on staffing			
(f) section 12IH	Duty to ensure adequate time given to clinical leaders		
(g) section 12II	Duty to ensure appropriate staffing: training of staff		
(h) section 12IJ	Duty to follow Common Staffing Method		
(i) section 12IL	Training and consultation of staff		
(j) section 12IM	Reporting on staffing		
(k) section 12IN	Ministerial guidance on staffing		

Figure 2 NHS Duties in relation to Staffing.

- 3.2 The purpose of HIS's role and function is to monitor the discharge, by every Health Board, relevant Special Health Board, and the Agency, of their duties as cited within the legislation, as part of HIS's scrutiny function.
- 3.3 In addition, HIS will support the identification and sharing of areas of good practice, shared learning and the identification and provision of appropriate improvement support.
- 3.4 The co-location of functions across HIS means that the organisation can provide a range of activities in a coordinated and balanced way, thus utilising an organisational approach to HIS's monitoring and improvement functions to enable safer high-quality healthcare.
- 3.5 Internal intelligence and stakeholder involvement, from across HIS, in HIS's monitoring role will be enabled through the HIS Healthcare Staffing Internal Advisory Group, with leadership and administrative support provided by HIS HSP.
- 3.6 In line with the 'Operational Framework: Healthcare Improvement Scotland and Scottish Government' (2024), HIS will utilise a multi-faceted intelligence led approach. Utilising a range of information which will support HIS' role and function as cited within the legislation to provide information to Ministers on how Health Boards, Special Health Boards and the Agency are discharging their duties under the Act.
- 3.7 HIS will utilise intelligence through a range of mechanisms. Data and evidence will be obtained and analysed on an ongoing basis by the HSP and presented to the HIS Healthcare Staffing Internal Advisory Group (IAG), on a quarterly basis. This will demonstrate the Boards

compliance with Staffing Duties, identify areas of good practice and shared learning which will inform appropriate action for HIS. The purpose being to provide and consider intelligence on Boards' compliance with their Staffing Duties and the fulfilment of the main guiding principles which is to provide safe and high-quality services, and to ensure the best health care or (as the case may be) care outcomes for service users.

Figure 3 Examples of Intelligence

- Health Boards Internal Board reports (Quarterly)
- Use of High-Cost Agency Staff Report (Quarterly)
- Health Board Annual reports to Scottish Ministers
- Health Board Annual Workforce Plans
- HIS HSP Data Staffing Level Tool and Professional Judgement Tool Reports; Reports from Real-Time Staffing applications (e.g. TURAS and Safe Care); Local and National Reporting from the National SEER Platform
- HIS Core Indicators (Quality, Safety and Workforce)
- HIS Internal Intelligence Sharing Forum and Safety Network
- HIS Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) for sharing intelligence with professional regulators and professional bodies
- External Intelligence through 'Sharing Health and Care Intelligence Network'
- Excellence in Care (EiC) 'Care Assurance and Improvement Resource' (CAIR) Dashboard (Quality, Safety and Workforce)
- HIS inspections and regulation of care (including Inspections of NHS hospitals and services; Inspection of mental health units; Joint Inspections of Care; and Independent Health Care Regulation, Healthcare within Justice etc.)
- Deaths of Children and Young People
- Learning from Adverse Events
- Responding to Concerns (PIDA)
- Commissioned Reviews
- Community Engagement
- Scottish Patient Safety Programme (SPSP)
- Data and Intelligence sharing from HIS Improvement workstreams

NOTE: This list is not exhaustive and may vary dependent on the availability of sources of intelligence.

- 3.8 If emerging intelligence is obtained on an ad hoc basis, the HSP team will consult the HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG virtually or the group convened as necessary to consider the implications, provide critical advice, challenge, and direction to the HSP.
- 3.9 In order to monitor compliance by relevant organisations, 'HIS will need to consider the extent to which these organisations have considered relevant measures for monitoring and improving quality of health care'. The measures and/or indicators will be those published as standards and outcomes by Scottish Ministers (including any measures developed as part of the national care assurance framework, EiC), in addition to any other nationally agreed

standards. It will be the role of the HSP in collaboration with HIS Evidence Directorate to identify any relevant published standards and outcomes.

- 3.10 HIS HSP team will work with HIS Data Measurement Business Intelligence (DMBI) team to seek any meaningful data intelligence to further inform the IAG and HSP internal governance of Boards compliance with Staffing Duties.
- 3.11 HIS HSP team and HIS DMBI team will utilise and continually review the effectiveness of a suite of core workforce, quality, and safety indicators. This will ensure they provide meaningful indicators of Board's compliance with Staffing Duties and, where staffing has had a potential impact on the quality and safety of care, outcomes for patients and staff wellbeing.
- 3.12 HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG will utilise, and continually review the effectiveness of the <u>Quality Assurance System and Framework</u> in combination with other assurance and intelligence sharing systems and processes. This ensures that all opportunities to obtain and synthesise information on Boards compliance with Staffing Duties, areas of good practice and shared learning are captured and utilised to inform HIS's monitoring function.
- 3.13 The intention of the 'Duty on Health Boards to Assist Staffing Functions' (12IT) (<u>Section 7</u>), requires relevant organisations to provide assistance to HIS to undertake its role and functions, utilising, when appropriate, HIS's 'Power To Require Information' (12IU) (<u>Section 8</u>).
- 3.14 HIS may utilise its 'powers to require information" to request Health Board's quarterly internal reports and/or Health Board's annual report to Scottish Ministers in accordance with '12IM Reporting on staffing'. These reports detail how they have carried out their duties under the Act. The HIS HSP team will make the request and synthesis the information provided within these reports. The HSP will provide a summary report to the IAG highlighting any areas of good practice and any gaps.
- 3.15 HIS may utilise its powers to require information from relevant organisations to obtain additional information to understand the relevance and significance of information contained within Boards reports as outlined in 3.14, or in response to information obtained through HIS's intelligence led approach.
- 3.16 HIS will monitor and review Boards compliance with Staffing Duties based on intelligence and evidence at a time and manner of its choosing; this applies to both one-off reviews and mutually planned programmes of monitoring and assurance.
- 3.17 There may be occasions when HIS is directed to undertake specific assurance activity, on behalf of Scottish Ministers, via the Sponsor Function and/or relevant Policy Lead, regarding a Health Board/s compliance with Staffing Duties. When undertaking such a request, HIS will explore the issues involved and provide advice on the most appropriate approach to effectively inform compliance and support improvement.

- 3.18 HSP will provide healthcare staffing expertise to support the Quality Assurance Regulation Directorate undertake its work such as inspection activity, Responding to Concerns and any other reviews.
- 3.19 HIS will provide Scottish Ministers with relevant independent information to that provided by the relevant organisations within their annual reports, to provide assurance to the Scottish Ministers that relevant organisations are complying with the duties required by the Act. This will be communicated through an annual report, via the existing SG Sponsorship arrangement, as the mechanisms for providing advice to Scottish Ministers.
- 3.20 In accordance with HIS Escalation Framework, HIS may escalate serious concerns about a service to SG in accordance with the agreed Annex 5, 6, 7 of the 'Operational Framework: Healthcare Improvement Scotland and Scottish Government' (2024) and provide advice to Scottish Ministers via the SG Sponsor Function at any time.
- 3.21 When concerns do not meet the threshold of HIS Escalation Framework, the HIS HSP will follow the internal HIS HSP Monitoring and Compliance escalation procedure to inform an appropriate and proportionate response from HIS.
- 3.22 In undertaking HIS monitoring function, HIS will operate independently of SG, Health Boards, and Integration Authorities as part of their scrutiny function. This means that any additional information to Boards annual reports may inform decisions by Scottish Ministers regarding any intervention required or any decisions relating to policy in healthcare staffing. A close, mutually supportive working relationship is therefore essential in enabling and delivering a whole system approach to improving care for all.
- 3.23 HIS will carry out its monitoring Staffing Duties functions transparently, including wherever possible, publishing the agreed processes and sources of intelligence that are used to inform its work.
- 3.24 The additional information obtained through HIS's monitoring role may inform the requirement to review existing, or develop new, staffing level tools, amend the professional judgement tool and/or amend the Common Staffing Method (CSM).
- 3.25 The additional information obtained through HIS's monitoring role may identify areas of good practice, opportunities for shared learning and/or opportunities for improvement.
- 3.26 Where improvement support needs are identified through HIS's monitoring role the Healthcare Staffing IAG and/or HSP will consider whether the necessary capacity and expertise could be mobilised to provide the Board with assistance in making the necessary improvements. The level of support will be mutually agreed between the Board and HIS in addition to signposting the Board to resources and opportunities for shared learning from other Boards.

4.0 HIS: monitoring and review of common staffing method (12IQ)

4.1 The 'Duty to follow Common Staffing Method' (12IJ) only applies to the types of health care mentioned in section (12IK) of the <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019</u> as follows (Figure 4):

Type of health care	Location	Employees	
Adult inpatient provision	Hospital wards with 17 occupied beds or more on average	Registered nurses	
Clinical nurse specialist	Hospitals	Registered nurses who work as	
provision	Community settings	 clinical nurse specialists 	
Community nursing provision	Community settings	Registered nurses	
Community children's nursing provision	Community settings	Registered nurses	
Emergency care provision	Emergency departments in hospitals	Registered nurses	
		Medical practitioners	
Maternity provision	Hospitals	Registered midwives	
	Community settings	-	
Mental health and learning	Mental health units in hospitals	Registered nurses	
disability provision	Learning disability units in hospitals		
Neonatal provision	Neonatal units in hospitals	Registered midwives	
		Registered nurses	
Paediatric inpatient provision	Paediatric wards in hospitals	Registered nurses	
Small ward provision	Hospital wards with 16 occupied beds or fewer on average	Registered nurses	

Figure 4 Duty to follow CSM: Types of Health Care

- 4.2 The CSM is a systematic approach to workforce planning (see <u>Figure 5</u>) that requires Boards to:
 - utilise the staffing level tool and the professional judgement tool, as prescribed in regulations, and takes into account the results from those tools.
 - utilise any measures for monitoring and improving the quality of health care, which are published as standards and outcomes under Section 10H(1) of the <u>National</u> <u>Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978</u> by the Scottish Ministers (including any measures developed as part of a national care assurance framework).
 - takes into account:
 - (i) its current staffing levels and any vacancies
 - (ii) the different skills and levels of experience of its employees
 - (iii) the role and professional duties, in particular, of any individual with lead clinical professional responsibility for the particular type of health care

- (iv) the effect that decisions about staffing and the use of resources taken for the particular type of health care may have on the provision of other types of health care including, in particular, those to which this section does not apply
- (v) the local context in which it provides health care
- (vi) patient needs
- (vii) appropriate clinical advice
- (viii) any assessment by HIS, and any relevant assessment by any other person, of the quality of health care which it provides
- (ix) experience gained from using the real-time assessment arrangements under section (12IC) (1) and the risk escalation processes under sections (12ID) and (12IE)
- (x) comments by patients, and by individuals who have a personal interest in their health care (for example family members and carers within the meaning of <u>Section</u> <u>1 of the Carers (Scotland) Act 2016)</u>, the duty imposed by section (12IA), and
- (xi) comments by its employees which relate to the duty imposed by section (12IA)
- identifies and takes all reasonable steps to mitigate any risks, and
- (e) having followed the steps described in paragraphs (a) to (d), decides what changes (if any) are needed as a result to its staffing establishment, and to the way in which it provides health care

Figure 5 The Common Staffing Method (2024)



4.3 HIS is required to monitor the effectiveness of the CSM process described in Part 2 (12IJ) of the Act and to monitor the way in which relevant organisations are using it.

- 4.4 HIS will monitor the discharge, by every Health Board, relevant Special Health Board, and the Agency, of their duty to follow CSM (12IJ) in accordance with <u>Section 3 HIS: monitoring</u> <u>compliance with staffing duties</u> (12IP).
- 4.5 HIS HSP will analyse Boards Staffing Level Tools and Professional Judgement Tool usage reports to determine if the tools are being run on a minimum of once per annum and used effectively and consistently across all relevant areas.
- 4.6 To identify how Boards are utilising the CSM to inform decisions about staffing and any areas of good practice or gaps in Boards compliance with the Act, HIS HSP will consider:
 - the information provided by NHS Boards in their quarterly internal reports and annual report to Scottish Government
 - their workforce plans, and
 - other relevant intelligence
- 4.7 HIS HSP will utilise its 'powers to require information' and the duty on relevant organisations to assist HIS to perform its staffing functions by requesting additional information, to that provided in Boards reports. These requests will be made periodically to monitor the way in which relevant organisations are using the CSM. This information will be utilised to:
 - Inform compliance with Staffing Duty (12IJ) and (12IK)
 - Identify areas of good practice and shared learning
 - Identification and provision of appropriate improvement support, and
 - Inform the effectiveness of the CSM for informing staffing establishment, and the way in which Boards provides health care
- 4.8 Scottish Ministers can direct HIS to carry out a review of the CSM, through existing HIS commissioning arrangements. In practice it is anticipated that HIS HSP will determine the frequency by which it undertakes a review.
- 4.9 HIS HSP will consider the requirement for a CSM review by:
 - Assessing the way in which relevant organisations apply the CSM
 - Assessing the appropriateness of CSM application for the specified areas of health care, location, and employees, and
 - Analysing intelligence about decisions being made as a result of CSM application
- 4.10 To inform the effectiveness and ease of use of the CSM and in addition, identify any gaps or areas for improvements, HIS HSP will periodically seek feedback from the specified areas of health care, location, and employees who have a duty to use the CSM.
- 4.11 In undertaking a review of the CSM HIS HSP will consult with:
 - (i) the Scottish Ministers
 - (ii) Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland
 - (iii) every Health Board

- (iv) every relevant Special Health Board
- (v) every integration authority
- (vi) the Agency
- (vii) trade unions and professional bodies as HIS considers to be representative of employees of the persons mentioned in sub-paragraphs (iii) to (vi)
- (viii) professional regulatory bodies for employees of the persons mentioned in subparagraphs (iii) to (vi) as HIS considers appropriate
- (ix) other providers of health care as HIS considers having relevant experience of using staffing level tools and professional judgement tools, and
- (x) other persons as HIS considers appropriate

This will be undertaken through the formation of a CSM Expert Reference Group and through a series of consultations, utilising established internal and external Governance groups and networks.

- 4.12 In undertaking a review of the CSM, HIS HSP will have regard to the guiding principles for healthcare staffing set out in <u>Part 1 of the HCSA</u> to ensure that the CSM supports relevant organisations to fulfil their requirements to ensure appropriate staffing as defined in the Act.
- 4.13 Following a review, HIS may recommend changes to the CSM to the Scottish Ministers. It is anticipated any recommendations will be made in the month of October to provide sufficient time for the regulations to be prepared and laid before parliament ahead of the next annual Board reporting period.
- 4.14 Where HIS makes recommendations it must submit to the Scottish Ministers, and then publish, a report setting out
 - a summary of the review it has carried out
 - its recommendations for changes to the CSM, and
 - the reasons for those recommendations

This report will be prepared by the HIS HSP team and published on the HSP pages of the HIS website.

- 4.15 In recommending changes to the CSM, HIS HSP may consider the future development or recommendation for the inclusion or replacement with a new or revised staffing level tool or professional judgement tool (see <u>Section 5</u>) which may have had an influence on the recommended changes to the CSM and/or Type of Healthcare, location, or employee in which the 'Duty to Follow the Common Staffing Method' applies.
- 4.16 The purpose of this rigorous process is to ensure that any review of the CSM is comprehensive, inclusive, and transparent, and to assure Scottish Ministers that the CSM is contemporary and fit for purpose.

5.0 HIS: monitoring and development of staffing tools (12IR)

- 5.1 HIS is required to monitor the effectiveness of all staffing level and professional judgement tools prescribed by Scottish Ministers. The frequency of monitoring the effectiveness of the tools will be determined by HIS using:
 - Intelligence and feedback from relevant organisations' experience of using the tools
 - Analysis of tool outputs, and
 - Significant policy or practice change within the specialty to which the tool applies

The intention is to ensure that staffing level and professional judgement tools remain contemporary and appropriate for professional practice, and that they also support relevant organisations to fulfil their requirements to ensure appropriate staffing as defined in the Act.

- 5.2 In practice, HIS HSP will routinely review and refresh staffing level and professional judgement tools on a cyclical basis (annually) to ensure they remain contemporary and are functioning effectively. HIS HSP will undertake an analysis of the usage, outputs, and the functionality of all the staffing level tools and the professional judgement tool on an annual basis. This information will be provided to an established specialty specific expert reference group to inform any recommendations for improvements to the existing tool and/or its prioritisation for future redevelopment.
- 5.3 As part of the tool review process HIS HSP will consult with:
 - Scottish Ministers
 - Social Care and Social Work Improvement Scotland (the Care Inspectorate)
 - Every Health Board
 - Every relevant Special Health Board
 - Every Integration Authority
 - The Agency (National Services Scotland, (NSS))
 - Relevant trade unions, professional bodies, and professional regulatory bodies that HIS considers to be representative of employees of Health Boards, Special Health Boards, Integration Authorities, and the Agency
 - Any other providers of health care as HIS considers having relevant experience of using staffing level and professional judgement tools, and
 - Any other group or person HIS considers appropriate
- 5.4 The HIS HSP will undertake this consultation process through a range of mechanisms, inviting key stakeholders (or the nominated representative) to participate:
 - As members of the expert reference group
 - As members of other internal HSP Governance groups, such as the HSP External Advisory Group
 - By formally consulting with them in writing as part of the tool review process

The intention of this requirement is to ensure there is appropriate stakeholder engagement across the relevant sectors, which will in turn ensure tools are contemporary and work across diverse practice settings and staff groups.

- 5.5 The tool specific expert reference group will be given the information obtained by HSP through:
 - Internal analysis as described in 5.2
 - The consultation process with stakeholders listed in 5.4
 - Any relevant informal feedback to HSP

This information will be used by the group to inform any recommendations for improvements to the existing tool and/or its prioritisation for future redevelopment as a new replacement tool.

- 5.6 In undertaking a review of, or developing new, staffing level or professional judgement tools, HIS must have regard to guidance published by:
 - Relevant professional bodies
 - Other bodies HIS considers appropriate
 - Relevant clinical evidence and research, and
 - The guiding principles for health and care staffing set out in Part 1 of the HCSA

The HIS HSP Health Service Researcher will undertake a literature review to inform the information considered by each of the expert reference groups as part of the tool review process. The expert reference group and wider consultation with stakeholders will also inform the HIS HSP of any other information or guidance that should be considered as part of the review process.

- 5.7 In making recommendations about the development of new, or revision of existing tools, SG expect HIS to make assumptions on certain matters. Examples of such assumptions include application of:
 - particular predictable absence rates
 - average bed occupancy levels

This is to ensure that such tools take account of staff national policy.

- 5.8 HIS HSP will produce a report providing:
 - A summary of the review it has carried out
 - The findings of the review
 - The recommended changes to the existing staffing level tool or professional judgement tool, and
 - Priorities for future tool developments, including the requirement for any tool to be developed to encompass and apply to other professional roles (see <u>Section 6</u>)
 - The inclusion or exclusion of any existing tool that is actively under development within the review process will be dependent on whether improvements are required as an interim solution e.g. to reflect any changes in policy

The report, once approved through HIS internal governance processes will be published on the HSP pages of the HIS website. The purpose of this rigorous process is to ensure that any review of the staffing tools is comprehensive, inclusive, transparent, and to assure Scottish Ministers that the tools remain contemporary and fit for purpose.

- 5.9 Where HIS HSP considers that any staffing level or professional judgement tool is no longer effective, HIS will recommend to Scottish Ministers, through the SG Sponsorship arrangement,
 - the revocation of an existing tool, or
 - the replacement of an existing tool, or
 - the inclusion of a new tool

It is anticipated that this will take place at an allocated annual timeframe (October) in line with parliamentary business to provide sufficient time for the regulations to be prepared and laid before parliament ahead of the next annual Board reporting period. The exception to this would be when it has been identified that a delay to the revocation or replacement of the existing tool, in which this new tool would replace, would have a significant impact to the outputs of the tools for informing appropriate staffing levels. In this circumstance, HIS would request an additional parliamentary window in which revocation or replacement of an existing tool could be considered.

- 5.10 Scottish Ministers can also direct HIS to develop a new, or revise an existing, staffing level tool or professional judgement tool. In this situation HIS and SG will mutually develop and agree the proposal in line with HIS and SG Commissioning Arrangement. The purpose is to ensure that the HSP can prioritise the development of staffing tools in line with SG requirements whilst ensuring that the SG Sponsor Function has oversight of HIS commissions and directives from Scottish Ministers across all policy areas and is able to provide support and advice as needed.
- 5.11 Where HIS and/or Scottish Ministers identify a requirement to develop a new or replacement staffing level tool HIS' HSP will establish a specialty specific expert reference group and follow the same collaboration process described in 5.3 to 5.7. The development of a new tool is a lengthier process than a review and revision of an existing tool and includes the requirement to consider whether the tool should apply to more than one professional discipline (see Section 6). Stakeholder engagement and collaboration from the start and throughout the tool development process is therefore paramount, in addition to the consideration of any published guidance and profession specific requirements.
- 5.12 HIS HSP team will determine the most effective methodology in which to inform the development of the staffing tool and the most effective data capture and digital platform in which to host the tool. The expert reference group will provide the necessary clinical, profession specific and service expertise to ensure the tool is fit for purpose and appropriate for the type of healthcare. This in turn supports relevant organisations to fulfil their requirements to ensure appropriate staffing as defined in the Act.

- 5.13 HIS HSP will ensure appropriate governance arrangements are in place within HIS with the HSP External Advisory Group and HSP Staffing Tools Expert Reference Groups providing a mechanism for collaboration and engagement.
- 5.14 HIS HSP will produce and publish a report on the process and findings of any new tool developed, including a summary of the methodology used, the findings of any validation and testing and the consultation process. The report, once approved through HIS governance structure will be published on the HSP pages of the HIS website. The purpose of this rigorous process is to ensure that the development of any new staffing tool is comprehensive, inclusive, and transparent, and to assure Scottish Ministers that the tools are reflective of contemporary workforce models and models of care and therefore fit for purpose.

6.0 HIS: duty to consider multi-disciplinary tools (12IS)

- 6.1 As outlined within <u>Section 5</u> when developing a new or revised staffing level or professional judgement tool, HIS is required to consider whether the tool should apply to more than one professional discipline. The intention of this being to ensure that, where appropriate, the workload of all staff groups providing care in a specialty area is considered for inclusion in the review of existing, or development of new, tools.
- 6.2 HIS HSP will identify what staff groups are working as key members of the multi-disciplinary care team within the specialty area to where the existing tool applies, as part of the tool review process.
- 6.3 A consideration of the tool review process, which will be informed through consultation with stakeholders, will be whether the tool should be re-developed to encompass other members of the wider multi-disciplinary team. This would be a significant development to any existing tool and consideration will therefore be given to whether:
 - the inclusion of other staff groups would enhance the existing tool, to reflect the multi-disciplinary nature of service delivery.
 - the requirements of the other staff groups involved in delivering care have a separate and distinct role and are managed separately and would therefore be better captured separately through a different mechanism or tool.
- 6.4 Having considered the inclusion of other staff groups in the review of existing tools, HIS HSP will need to consider the requirements for the development to the tool, which in most circumstances will be the development of a new tool to replace the existing tool at a future date. This will need to be balanced against other priorities for tool developments, including the revision to other existing tools and the development of new tools for other specialties and professional groups.
- 6.5 HIS HSP will consider what staff groups any new tool should encompass when developing any new or replacement staffing tool (see <u>Section 5</u> – 5.11) to ensure the tool is reflective of contemporary workforce and service delivery models of care delivery.
- 6.6 Having considered inclusion of additional staff groups in the review of existing, or as part of the development of new or replacement, tools, HIS can recommend to Scottish Ministers that a staffing level or professional judgement tool should apply to more than one professional discipline. The intention is to ensure that, where appropriate, future tools will be multi-disciplinary in nature. In cases where staffing groups are not included in revision or development of tools, there should be a clearly stated rationale for this. The recommended staff groups and rational will be encompassed in the published reports of HIS HSP review of the existing tool and the report accompanying and new tool development (see <u>Section 5</u> 5.8 and 5.14)

7.0 HIS: duty on health boards to assist staffing functions (12IT)

- 7.1 Every Health Board, relevant Special Health Board, the Agency, and Integration Authorities, where healthcare functions have been delegated, must give assistance to HIS as it requires to perform its functions under the <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019</u>
- 7.2 It is the intention that Health Boards assistance to HIS will enable HIS to perform its legislative functions in relation to:
 - Monitoring compliance with staffing functions
 - Monitoring and review of the CSM
 - Monitoring and developing staffing tools, and
 - The duty to consider multi-disciplinary tools
- 7.3 It is the intention that HIS, where possible and with data sharing arrangements in place, will access the appropriate workforce and quality information it requires to perform its functions under the Act and to avoid any unnecessary requests and associated data burden on Health Boards e.g. Outputs from Staffing Level Tool Runs, data from the CAIR dashboard.
- 7.4 HIS will utilise the duty on Health Boards to assist HIS with staffing functions to request Health Boards to participate in any review or development of the CSM or Staffing Level Tools. To do this HIS HSP will write to Health Boards to request participation in any consultation, evaluation, or testing. Alternatively, to request appropriate nominated individuals to represent the Board in any working group tasked with the review or development of the CSM or staffing tools.
- 7.5 HIS HSP will ensure that every Health Board, relevant Special Health Board, the Agency, and Integration Authorities, have appropriate representation on any working group and have participated in any consultation or evaluation.
- 7.6 HIS will seek the engagement and support of Health Boards in the identification and sharing of areas of good practice, improvement priorities and shared learning.
- 7.7 HIS will endeavor to provide appropriate improvement support when required and/or seek Health Boards support in the provision of appropriate improvement support to another Health Board where there have been opportunities for shared learning identified.
- 7.8 HIS will discharge its legislative duty to 'require information from relevant organisations' (12IU) HIS (Section 8) when additional information is required from the Health Board to inform HIS's approach to monitoring Health Boards compliance with Staffing Duties (Section 3). It is the expectation that in response to such a request Health Boards will provide HIS with the information requested within the timescales detailed in the 'duty on Health Boards to assist staffing functions (12IT)'. This will predominantly be led by the HIS HSP team with input from the Healthcare Staffing IAG unless a joined-up approach with the Responding to Concerns team is a more appropriate route due to the source where the concern originated.

7.9 HIS HSP will escalate any lack of assistance and participation to senior persons within the Health Board, reminding them of their legislative duties to assist HIS, and through HIS routes of escalation.

8.0 HIS: power to require information (12IU)

- 8.1 HIS may, where necessary, serve a notice on a relevant organisation to provide information to enable it to carry out its functions under the Act:
 - monitoring compliance with staffing functions
 - monitoring and review of the CSM
 - monitoring and developing staffing tools, and
 - the duty to consider multi-disciplinary tools
- 8.2 This notice will be a written request, in line with existing HIS powers to obtain information. The notice must explain why the information is required and for what function and state a date by which it must be provided (standard 10 working days but appropriate timescales will be provided to ensure Boards have sufficient time to collate any required information and will be dependent on any associated level of concern identified).
- 8.3 The request for information should be proportionate and easily accessible where possible. The requested information should pertain to the current state, rather than historical, although recognising that historical trends may provide comparative data and evidence of improvement.
- 8.4 In accordance with (12IT) under the Act there is a duty on Health Boards to provide information to assist HIS to carry out its functions therefore the relevant organisation must comply with any notice served on it.
- 8.5 The purpose of this notice is to ensure HIS is provided with all the necessary information available to fulfil its functions in the Act effectively, whilst ensuring the information requested is proportionate and relates specifically to fulfilment of HIS' functions in the Act.
- 8.6 The written request will be sent together with an appropriate template in which to submit information, if pertaining to HIS's functions in relation to monitoring and review of the CSM; monitoring and developing staffing tools; and the duty to consider multi-disciplinary tools.
- 8.7 The information requested pertaining to 8.6 will be utilised for the sole purpose of the HIS HSP to inform its legislative functions in accordance with (12IQ): <u>Section 4</u>; (12IR): <u>Section 5</u>; and (12IS): <u>Section 6</u> unless information obtained has implications in relation to (12IP): <u>Section 3</u>. In this instance any relevant information will be presented to HIS's Healthcare Staffing IAG for consideration of its relevance and implications.
- 8.8 When a written request for information is identified:
 - Routine part of assessment of Boards compliance, such as accessing their quarterly and annual reports.
 - Proactively seeking further information based on gaps in knowledge or where insufficient assurance/information is available or been provided.
 - And/or level of concern regarding Boards compliance with Staffing Duties, identified and agreed by the HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG and HSP Internal Governance arrangement.

- Information emerges from the HIS's multi-faceted intelligence led approach to monitoring compliance with staffing duties (<u>Section 3</u>).
- Themes or trends are identified that warrant a thematic or deeper understanding of areas of good practice or gaps in Boards compliance with Staffing Duties.
- 8.9 In response to a request triggered by the criteria identified in <u>Section 8</u> 8.8 the HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG will review the Board's response and complete the NHS Board response review template. This will outline whether the NHS Board has responded to each of the questions raised by HIS and is the Boards' response adequate, including conclusions and proposed next steps.
- 8.10 The HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG will consider their assessment of the information provided in relation to the Guiding Principles of the Act in addition to a number of additional factors intended to support members to consider Boards compliance with Staffing Duties (Figure 6).

Figure 6 Factors for the HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG to consider:

- a. What is the level of compliance for every Board? Do you have the information to support this?
- b. What is the level of assurance from the HIS multi-faceted intelligence led approach to monitoring compliance with staffing duties (<u>Section 3</u>) in addition to the information provided from the Board?
- c. What has been the impact of staffing on service provision? Is there evidence that patient safety and quality of care has been compromised?
- d. Is there sufficient evidence of improvement work to improve appropriate staffing and outcomes for service users and where appropriate staff wellbeing?
- e. Are there significant gaps in leadership, governance and executive oversight of staffing arrangements and associated implications for the safety, quality of care and staff wellbeing?
- f. Are there significant concerns about the arrangements for measuring and monitoring realtime staffing risk and any associate impact on the safety and quality of care?
- g. Is there significant concern about the arrangements for managing appropriate staffing levels e.g. recruitment challenges?
- h. There is other relevant intelligence available (from within HIS and/or externally) which suggests there are more systemic issues?
- i. The Board recognises the areas for improvement, however due to capacity and capability are unable to address these/make improvements.
- j. Following an improvement recommendation, we would expect a response from the Board to advise us that they are addressing the areas of concern within the agreed time period.

The list is not exhaustive and is intended as a guide to prompt thinking in addition to the clinical knowledge, subject matter expertise, local context, and the professional judgement of the Healthcare Staffing IAG membership.

- 8.11 In the situation that the information provided by the Board (in response to the initial request for information under <u>Section 8</u> 8.8) is inadequate, a further request for information may be required. In this case the HIS HSP would follow the previous steps outlined within the process or arrange to meet with the Board to clarify the information required.
- 8.12 In the situation that the information provided by the Board, in response to the request for information under <u>Section 8</u> 8.8, is sufficient to demonstrate compliance with the Act or sufficient understanding and oversight of the risks and improvements required, HIS will issue a Healthcare Staffing response letter to the Board.
- 8.13 In circumstances when Boards are unable to demonstrate compliance with the Act or sufficient understanding and oversight of the risks and improvements required HIS Healthcare Staffing IAG will determine the most appropriate course of action (see <u>Section 3</u>).
- 8.14 In every instance where HIS deploys its statutory duties to request information, information will be utilised to identify areas of good practice, opportunities for shared learning and improvement.

9.0 Accountability and governance

- 9.1 Accountability for all of HIS <u>Health and Care (Staffing) (Scotland) Act 2019</u> duties covered in this Healthcare Improvement Scotland Healthcare Staffing Operational Framework remains with HIS and the relevant organisations, and not with individuals who may have delegated responsibility or be 'tasked' to carry out certain actions.
- 9.2 The Executive Lead for Healthcare Staffing within HIS is the Executive Nurse Director and Deputy Chief Executive.
- 9.3 The operational delivery of HIS' legislative duties outlined within the HCSA and detailed within the Healthcare Improvement Scotland Healthcare Staffing Operational Framework is the responsibility of the HIS Associate Director for Healthcare Staffing and Care Assurance and the HSP, hosted within the Nursing and Systems Improvement (NSI) Directorate.
- 9.4 The review of this document and discharge of HIS' role and function will be monitored and reported through HIS' QPC and from there to HIS' Board (see 9.5).
- 9.5 The Governance Structure for HIS Healthcare Staffing is demonstrated in <u>Figure 7</u> below:

Figure 7 HIS Healthcare Staffing Governance Structure



10.0 Version control

			Director of NSI and Deputy
Version	Month / Year	Associate Director Signature / date	Chief Executive Signature / date
0.1	January 2024		
0.2	February (merged with SG updates)		
0.3	March 2024 (Chapters 4,5 and 6 added)		
0.4	April further comments received following circulation to HIS CCG on 28/3/2024 and the HSP External Programme Board.		
0.4 Final	May 2024 approval at HIS NSI Business Meeting		
0.4 Final for approval	May 2024 approval at HIS QPC		
1.0	 22nd May 2024 Approved by QPC SG Errors corrected: Merged 5.9 with 5.14 to avoid duplication. SG Feedback and review by Associate Director - Updated 5.13 to remove reference to Tools Oversight group which has been disbanded and to clarify the roles and responsibilities of the HSP External Advisory group and Staffing Tools Reference Group as mechanisms for collaboration and clinical and service advice and expertise to inform HIS' work. 	Caroline Craig 4 th June 2024	Ann Gow 11 th June 2024